## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PEIRCE McINTOSH

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-TS-2136

**GAY REED McINTOSH** 

**APPELLEE** 

Consolidated with:

**GAY REED McINTOSH** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-TS-01762

PEIRCE McINTOSH

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT, PEIRCE McINTOSH

#### SUBMITTED BY:

JOHN H. DANIELS, III
DYER, DYER, JONES & DANIELS
POST OFFICE DRAWER 560
GREENVILLE, MS 38702-0560
TELEPHONE: (662) 378-2626
MB

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT, PEIRCE McINTOSH

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PEIRCE McINTOSH

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-TS-2136

**GAY REED McINTOSH** 

**APPELLEE**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1.

Did the lower court erroneously grant a stay of its October 2, 2006 Judgment of Divorce.

II.

If a stay of the lower court's Judgment of October 2, 2006 was to be granted, it could only be granted with supersedeas pursuant to Rule 8, Mississippi Rules

Appellate Procedure or Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-31 (1972); and

111.

Was the lower court without authority/jurisdiction to reinstate its Order of Temporary Relief entered January 18, 2006.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These causes have been consolidated for appeal purposes.

The Appellee, Gay Reed McIntosh (hereinafter "Appellee") filed a Complaint for Separate Maintenance on September 22, 2005.

The Appellant, Peirce McIntosh (hereinafter "Appellant") filed his response to the Appellee's Complaint for Separate Maintenance, along with a Counterclaim for divorce on October 25, 2005.

A hearing was held by the Washington County Chancery Court (hereinafter "lower court") in December of 2005 on the issue of temporary support and following an Order was entered granting the requested support on January 18, 2006.

Following the Temporary Order discovery proceeded and thereafter a trial with the entry of a well reasoned Judgment of Divorce on October 2, 2006.

The trial was followed by a number of post-trial proceedings which ultimately led to two (2) separate appeals to this Court on several different issues.

The issues-at-bar concern the Appellant's claim for relief as set forth in the Statement of Issues.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Not unlike many couples in our state -- the McIntoshs married, raised a family and sought out the American dream.

Not unlike the plight of many couples in our state – the McIntoshs' relationship deteriorated over the years to where in 2005 they sought relief from the Chancery Court of Washington County, Mississippi in the form of separate maintenance and/or

divorce.

The pleadings in this cause reveal a typical march to the courthouse – a claim for separate maintenance (CP 8-12, RE 7-11) by the Appellee and a responsive pleading thereto with a Counterclaim for Divorce by the Appellant (CP 17-20, RE 12-15).

On January 18, 2006, the lower court entered an Order of Temporary Support (CP 25-30, RE 16-21). That Order of Temporary Support required the Appellant to pay certain funds for the support of the Appellee and the parties' child – and "...remain[ed] in effect until further order of this court." (CP 27, RE 18). (Insert in bracket ours).

Following the lower court's Order of January 18, 2006 (CP 25-30, RE 16-21), discovery proceeded as usual and with a trial on all issues which culminated in a Judgment of Divorce in favor of the Appellant on October 2, 2006. (CP31-56, RE 22-47). The lower court's Judgment of Divorce denied the Appellee's request for separate maintenance and effected an orderly division of property by way of equitable distribution and the payment of child support by the Appellant to the Appellee for the care of their minor son; including other relief set forth or spelled out therein.

The Appellee being aggrieved of the lower court's decision granting a divorce immediately perfected an appeal but did not claim the benefit of an additional post-trial review pursuant to Rule 59, MRCP. (Emphasis ours) (See Appellant's Motion Objecting to Modification, Reconsideration or Altering of Judgment and for Other Relief for a historical sequence of the post-trial proceedings following the Appellee's appeal of the lower court's Judgment of October 2, 2006.) (CP69-72, RE 58-61).

Instead the Appellee, without the benefit of Rule 59, <u>supra</u>, sought relief from the lower court pursuant to Rule 62, MRCP, which was objected to by the Appellant – Appellee was attempting to "stay" the enforcement of the lower court's decision of October 2, 2006, pursuant to Rule 62, <u>supra</u> and without the benefit of a supersedeas bond. (CP 57-61, CP 62-66, RE 48-52, RE 53-57).

On November 1, 2006, the lower court modified the October 2, 2006, Judgment (CP 67-68, RE 58-59), which was objected to by the Appellant (CP 69-72, RE 60-63), all of which following a hearing on the various Motions brought the lower court to a number of conclusions/decisions.

- a. November 30, 2006 Order (CP 115, RE 66) setting aside the lower court's Order of November 1, 2006;
- b. November 30, 2006 Order (CP 116, RE 67) rendering the Order of the lower court of November 1, 2006 void and of no affect; and
- c. December 1, 2006 Order (CP 113-114, RE 64-65) stayed the October 2,
   2006 Final Judgment and reinstated the Order of Temporary Relief of January 18,
   2006.

With these Orders/decisions the Appellant perfected his appeal to this Court; as the Appellant is aggrieved of the decision of the lower court in (1) staying the lower court's Judgment of October 2, 2006; and (2) reinstating the lower court's Order of January 18, 2006 *nunc pro tunc* October 2, 2006; all without the benefit of either a supersedeas bond as required by Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-31 (1972) or of Rule 8, MRAP and without the benefit or existence of a marital relationship upon which an

Order of Separate Maintenance, temporary or otherwise might be entered or jurisdiction of the lower court to reinstate its Order of January 18, 2006.

The proceeding on the various Motions at bar is codified in the transcript of hearing held on November 16, 2006. (T. 24-44, RE 68-89). During that argument and hearing the lower court revoked its former Order of reconsideration of its Judgment of October 2, 2006; reinstating the Judgment for the simple reason that the Appellee failed to file a Rule 59, MRCP, Motion for Reconsideration – but ended up staying the Judgment of October 2, 2006 (without the benefit of a supersedeas bond) and reinstating the lower court's Order of January 18, 2006 – an Order of support for which the Appellant contends, among other reasons, could not be "re-entered" due to the absence of the "marital relationship" or the court having jurisdiction to reinstate the Order of January 18, 2006.

From that decision (as codified in the lower court's Order of December 1, 2006, entered December 4, 2006) (CP 113-114, RE 64-65) the Appellant perfected his appeal to this Court and which for clarity purposes has been consolidated with the main appeal in this cause.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court was in error when it granted a stay of the October 2, 2006 Judgment of Divorce. The only way that Judgment could be stayed was with the approval of a bond of supersedeas.

In addition the lower court reinstated its Temporary Order of January 18, 2006.

Clearly this was error – the court was without jurisdiction to reinstate that Order and

furthermore the Order (temporary in nature but predicated upon the Petition for Separate Maintenance) was conditioned on the existence of a marital relationship. Without such relationship or jurisdiction the court had no authority to enter an Order of Separate Maintenance, temporary or otherwise.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The lower court granted a divorce to the Appellant in its Judgment of October 2, 2006. In that Judgment the court ordered an equitable distribution of jointly held property, child support, child custody and other relief. From that Judgment an appeal was perfected by the Appellee; no post-trial reconsideration of the Judgment was requested by Appellee or her counsel. The lower court in this case was without jurisdiction to "reconsider" its Judgment of October 2, 2006 as all litigation in the case-at-bar had ceased. The lower court was without authority to alter, or to amend its findings of fact or conclusions of law – because without more the lower court's hands were tied and the jurisdiction of the case-at-bar was vested in this Court. See generally *Banks v. Banks*, 522 So. 2d 933 (Miss. 1987); *Henson v. Henson*, 877 So. 2d 547 (Miss. 2004); as well as Rule 54, MRCP. A Final Judgment is an appealable Order from which all litigation ceases and from which the lower court would be divested of jurisdiction and therefore could not affect, alter or amend an order/judgment for which it had no jurisdiction over.

Clearly the lower court had no choice in the matter as it was without jurisdiction.

The only thing that the lower court could consider was the requested stay pursuant to Rule 62, MRCP; the lower court was thus precluded procedurally from altering or

amending its Judgment of October 2, 2006, or from reinstating a previous Temporary Order.

In this position the Appellee had few, if any, choices – appeal with supersedeas – thereby staying the Judgment of October 2, 2006 or as an alternative, appealing but without supersedeas in hopes that this Court concluded that the lower court was incorrect in its Judgment of October 2, 2006.

Notwithstanding, the lower court granted what Appellant considers (procedurally) relief not otherwise available to the Appellee.

The Appellee sought and obtained the stay of the October 2, 2006 Final Judgment of Divorce and without the benefit of a supersedeas bond. In addition, the Appellee likewise sought and obtained, to the prejudice of the Appellant, a reinstatement of the lower court's Temporary Order entered January 18, 2006 – an Order for which the Appellant contends could not be reinstated.

The lower court's Order entered January 18, 2006 (CP 25-30, RE 16-21) was, although styled "Order of Temporary Support" an Order predicated upon the Appellee's Motion for Separate Maintenance. It was more than an award of temporary child support and custody – it adjusted issues of support, possession of property and other relief. In addition and most importantly, was the language of the Order concerning its continued existence. The Order entered January 18, 2006, stated, "The provisions of this Order shall remain in effect until further order of this Court." (CP 27, RE 18). Moreover, the very nature of the Order was predicated upon the continuation of the marital relation of the parties and the Appellant's return to that relationship.

Elementary in the law of divorce and separation is Miss. Code Ann. §93-5-27 (1972); which states:

In all cases of divorce from the bonds of matrimony, the marital rights shall cease with the Judgment.

Clearly this is what happened when the lower court entered its Final Judgment of Divorce dated October 2, 2006. In addition, when the Appellee immediately appealed the October 2, 2006 Judgment and failed to employ post-trial relief by way of reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59, MRCP – the lower court lost jurisdiction of the matter and the parties were therefore divorced – jurisdiction of the case was in the hands of this Court, the Supreme Court for the State of Mississippi.

The only remedy then available to the Appellee was her appeal to this Court with or without supersedeas. See generally Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-31 (1972), Rule 8, MRAP and *Deal v. Wilson*, 922 So. 2d 24 (Miss. 2005).

As such, the lower court was without authority to amend or alter its October 2, 2006 Judgment; and, was without authority to reinstate its Order of Temporary Support entered January 18, 2006. This latter Order, the Order of Temporary Support, was predicated upon the continuation of the marital relation, was void with the entry of the October 2, 2006 Final Judgment and could not be reinstated because the lower court lacked jurisdiction to reinstate same upon Appellee's immediate appeal and failure to employ the corrective measures of Rule 59, MRCP.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should grant the following relief and make the following findings, towit:

- 1. That the lower court's Judgment of October 2, 2006, was a final judgment from which an appeal was taken.
- The lower court was without jurisdiction to reconsider its Final Judgment of
   October 2, 2006 for failure of the Appellee to employ post-trial relief pursuant to Rule
   MRCP.
- 3. That for the Appellee to stop the mandate of the lower court's Judgment the matter had to be stayed with supersedeas pursuant to Rule 8, MRAP or Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-31 (1972).
- 4. That without a stay or the grant of post-trial relief, the lower court's Judgment of October 2, 2006, was a final decision binding upon the lower court and the parties but subject, of course, to the right of the Appellee to an appeal; and
- 5. That because the lower court was without jurisdiction, the lower court had no right to alter, amend its Judgment or to reinstate its Order of Temporary Relief entered January 18, 2006.