#### MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

PEIRCE MCINTOSH APPELLANT

V. CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-02136

GAY REED MCINTOSH APPELLEE

Brief

**CONSOLIDATED WITH:** 

GAY REED MCINTOSH APPELLANT

V. CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01762

PEIRCE MCINTOSH APPELLEE

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of the Mississippi Supreme Court and/or the Mississippi Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Gay Reed McIntosh;
- 2. Peirce McIntosh;

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

## Summary of the Argument

Gay contends that even when this Court views the Court's Order Staying the Judgment in light of the purposes of Rule 62, Miss. R. Civ. P., it will be convinced that the lower Court acted within its authority according to Rule 62, Miss. R. Civ. P., to Stay Enforcement of the Judgment and to Reinstate its Order of Temporary Child Support dated January 16, 2006, as it would have caused irreparable damage to Gay to have to sign over her interest in the real property and in her PERS retirement account (\$8,400.00) (R.E. 38), especially in light of the fact that her likelihood of success on appeal were so sanguine, especially in light of the lower Court's own misgivings when it realized that it had failed to consider the tax effects and liquidity issues when it divested Peirce of all or part of the funds in one or more of his IRA accounts as Gay was younger than 59-1/2 years and would incur a penalty were she to have to withdraw sums to meet ordinary living expenses prior to reaching the age of 59-1/2 years (R.E. 38-39).

Additionally, as Peirce had control of many more of the assets for which the parties had worked during the course of their marriage, Gay, under the Judgment was commanded to transfer her interest in her PERS retirement account (\$8,400.00) and to quitclaim any interest she had in the Monroe County property (32 acres of land), the Amory property (house and lot), and the Sunflower County property (two lots and recreational vehicle) to Peirce (R.E. 38).

# Standard of Review

This Court will not overturn the lower Court unless this Court determines that the lower Court abused its discretion. **Board of Trustees v. Knox**, 638 So. 2d 1278, 1281 (Miss. 1994).

### **Argument**

- I. Whether the lower Court abused its discretion in granting a stay of the Judgment rendered October 2, 2006.
- II. Whether the lower Court erred in failing to require Gay to post a supersedeas bond in order to secure a stay of the Judgment; and
- III. Whether the lower Court had jurisdiction, after the rendition of Judgment, to reinstate its Order for Temporary Relief entered January 16, 2006.

The lower Court had jurisdiction to rule on Gay's Motion to Stay the Execution of the Judgment and to reinstate the provisions of the January 16, 2006 Order pursuant to Rule 62(c) or (d), Miss. R. Civ. P., as portions of the judgment were tantamount to mandatory injunctions, i.e. requiring parties to convey all of each party's interest in either a piece of real property or in personal property such as a retirement fund, a mutual fund or a certificate of deposit to the other as part and parcel of the division of the marital estate.

The most succinct statement of the lower Court's rationale for the granting of the stay and reinstatement of the January 6, 2006 Order is found on pages 75-77 of Appellant Peirce McIntosh's Record Excerpts in which the lower Court states as follows:

...I would like to take up this issue of the stay because clearly the record shows, no matter how we slice this cake, that the Court does not believe that its Judgment in this case was a fair judgment with regard to the division of the assets of the parties. It's not a secret, obviously, it's well documented at this point, that the Court did not believe its Judgment to be fair.

Well, here's how I'm looking at it. She's asking that the whole Judgment be stayed - that would include the divorce and everything - the Judgment be stayed at this point until the Appeal goes through because. . . she thinks there are serious errors and, if the Judgment is not stayed, then we have retirement accounts that have to be liquidated - I'm not sure what all there's going to be penalties attached, the whole nine yards. Add that to the fact that the Court - here correct when it rendered it's initial decision, thought it was a fair and equitable distribution. But upon, and I don't know why the Court missed that during the trial, but, for whatever reasons, upon discovering that these were retirement accounts, which is different from cash accounts, which is what the Court thought they were, that kind of changes the nature of the division and I don't see how you can get around that fact. It does change the nature of it. It forces. . . Mrs. McIntosh to cash in on retirement accounts at a penalty, at the same time that Mr. McIntosh has access to over \$50,000.00 that is not tied up in retirement accounts.

So what I'm saying, and I've said all that, to say this, so that, if that is correct, if my thinking, reasoning on that is correct, and that distribution was not fair, then it seems reasonable to grant a stay.

Then on pages 83-84 and 86 of the Appellant Peirce McIntosh's Record Excerpts the lower Court, in its ruling of November 16, 2006, summarizes its rationale for granting the stay as follows:

It seems to me that pursuant to Rule 62(d) that I can grant the stay upon appeal in light of the fact that the Court believes that it was incorrect in its division of the assets in that it did not take into account the accounts that were retirement accounts versus those that were not. The Court believes that, in making an equitable distribution of the parties' assets, the type of account involved is important and it is a part of the equitable distribution and the Court does not believe that,

as a result of its distribution, that it was equitable or fair.

. . .

Given that, the Court is going to grant the stay.

. . .

What the Court is trying to do, however, is in the interest of justice, fairness, and equity, the Court does believe a stay needs to be granted and the Court is granting a stay pursuant to Rule 62(d). I do not want these accounts. . .cashed in at this point, because clearly, when you look at the nature of the accounts, the division would be different, which I think would be the fair division is the one that the Court gave in its modified Order which the Court has already ruled [it] did not have the authority to give.

. . .

So, given that, I don't warrant - I have to stay it. I don't see any way around staying the execution of the Order because I don't want to see these accounts opened up or sold or whatever you do to get into them. So, to that extent, the Court is granting a stay.

Perhaps the clearest statement from the Court is contained on page 86 of the Appellant Peirce McIntosh's Record Excerpts where the Court states as follows:

Under these circumstances, if that's the case and I stayed the Judgment with regard to the financial distribution, then we're kind of leaving Mrs. McIntosh out there to hang and dry because now she doesn't have access to that which I thought she would have access to because I didn't realize they were retirement accounts. So, she doesn't have that at all. All she actually ends up with is \$1,000.00 on the child support. That is not a fair result at all. By the time - no - by the time we get through the appeal, and they are moving very quickly, but, even with that, within that time frame, do you know how much can be lost? Given the 8.05's, I recall the 8.05's

and the income and Mrs. McIntosh makes a good income, but I don't think that is a correct assessment either. At least that's not the intent of this Court. You may be very well correct and may be. . .I apologize if this is all the Court's fault for not realizing those were retirement accounts, but I can't go with that. No. Then the next thing we know, we've got she and the child out of the house. Then they don't have a home. I can't go with that.

And, finally, at pages 87, 88 of the Appellant Peirce McIntosh's Record Excerpts, the Court states:

I admit that this seems to me to be one big mess at this point and I apologize to the appellate Court, as well as to counsel here. I don't know what happened here, but I do know that I am staying it because I don't feel that judgment was equitable in terms of the division of the assets. I cannot go along with your suggestion because it kind of leaves her in a very bad position based on the 8.05's and the debts that have to be dealt with, particularly the house note.

. . .

I've stayed the Judgment. That does, to me, essentially, return them to whatever the last Order is. I think that does that. I don't see where else we can go with it.

. . .

I've got to grant the stay because the division is not equitable.

٠.

If that doesn't do it, if the stay means that this Judgment doesn't go into effect, then the only thing that would be in effect would be the last Order. So that's what is in effect. Appellant Peirce McIntosh's Record Excerpts, pp. 87, 88.

Therefore, the lower Court went through the requirements set out in the Comment to Rule 62(c), M. R. Civ. P., those requirements which parallel the rationale for granting a temporary restraining order, namely the likelihood of success, on appeal; whether Gay would suffer irreparable injury if the lower Court overruled the motion for the stay which was set forth and even recognized by the lower Court in its bench ruling of November 16, 2006 when the lower Court stated that it had failed to take into consideration whether a particular mutual fund was a retirement fund or just a regular investment account, and if the former, what penalties Gay would incur when she attempted to use those funds to pay the mortgage on the residence or the taxes or the insurance or to pay for normal everyday expenses; whether Peirce would not suffer any substantial harm were the stay granted as he would maintain control over the vast majority of liquid assets; and whether the public interest would be affected by the Court's ruling as this is purely a private matter.

Once the Court determined that it would have a serious detrimental effect upon Gay were it to overrule the motion to stay the Judgment, the lower Court was faced with a situation in which it would be inequitable to require Gay to shoulder the responsibilities of the mortgage, insurance and taxes on the Irish Lane property, pay for Jae's private school tuition, and run her household, using only her salary, together with the \$1,000.00 per month child support which the final Judgment commanded Peirce to pay. Therefore, realizing that Gay was likely to be successful on appeal on the question of the equitable distribution of the marital estate, the lower Court correctly stayed the

Judgment and reinstated the Court's January 16, 2006 Order as one merely to provide for the support of the minor child of the parties, Jae McIntosh, by requiring Peirce to pay the mortgage, insurance and taxes and certain utilities and to pay child support of \$500.00 per month.

The use of those four criteria in evaluating a motion to stay the judgment has been used by U.S. Senior District Judge Morey L. Sear of the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana in the case styled *Campbell v. St.*Tammany Parish School Board, 1999 U.S. Dist. Lexis 15570 (E.D. La. 1999) when he analogized the standards to those used by the Fifth Circuit in evaluating a motion for stay of a judgment for injunctive relief brought under Rule 8(a)(1)(C), F. R. App. P., in the case styled *Ruiz v. Estelle*, 650 F.2d 555, 565 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981).

Peirce relies upon the case of *Hinson v. Hinson*, 877 So. 2d 547 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) to establish that in order for a Court's ruling to be appealable, it must be reduced to a final judgment which complies with Rule 58, Miss. R. Civ. P., in that it shall be a "separate document which bears the title of 'Judgment'" and that while a Chancellor's bench ruling is susceptible to modification before it is placed in final documentary form and classified by the Chancellor as a Judgment, the bench ruling without "the requisite finality" is neither final nor appealable. *Hinson v. Hinson*, *supra.*, at 548. There is no question in this case that the Court rendered Judgment because prior to addressing the parties and counsel in open Court and tendering to counsel a file-stamped copy of the Judgment, the Court had the original entered by the Chancery Clerk who

placed it of record in the docket and placed the Clerk's stamp with the date of October 2, 2006 on the front page of the Judgment.

Neither is there any question that, pursuant to Rule 62(d), Miss. R. Civ. P., the lower Court has jurisdiction to rule upon a motion to stay the execution of the judgment.

While this is not your plain vanilla money judgment case with an application to the Circuit Court to stay the execution of the judgment conditioned upon posting of a supersedeas bond in the amount of 125% of the money judgment, it did have what Gay contends is tantamount to mandatory injunction language requiring her to give up her interest in her PERS retirement account and to give up whatever interest she may have had in the recreational vehicle, the 32 acres of land in Monroe County, Mississippi, the house and lot in Amory, Mississippi, and the two lots in Indianola, Mississippi. Additionally, she was, according to the Judgment, going to be the recipient of several of Peirce's retirement accounts and because she had not yet reached the age of 59-1/2, had she been forced by her circumstances to liquidate those sums, she would have incurred a penalty, the consideration of which had not been part of the lower Court's decision-making in rendering Judgment on the issue of the equitable division of the marital estate. As the lower Court's Judgment is in the nature of a mandatory injunction, Gay was required to satisfy those four Rule 62(c) criteria and the lower Court, in its sound discretion, found that her Motion was well taken and sustained same realizing the likelihood of Gay's success on appeal, on at least, the equitable distribution issue, placed the parties (from the monetary support of the minor child) in the footing they were in prior to the evidentiary hearing on Gay's Complaint for Separate Maintenance and Peirce's Counter-Claim for Divorce.

Peirce also relies on the 1987 decision of the Mississippi Supreme Court styled *Banks v. Banks*, 511 So. 2d 933 (Miss. 1987), to illustrate when a Judgment is final and presumably the termination of the action, but *Banks v. Banks*, *supra.*, makes no mention of the powers of the lower Court pursuant to Rule 62, Miss. R. Civ. P., to stay the execution of a valid, final Judgment which it has previously entered. That is the question which is before the Court in Peirce's appeal, i.e., whether the lower Court abused its discretion when it stayed the entry of Judgment and placed the parties in the position (as far as the support of the minor child was concerned) as they were before the evidentiary hearing.

It is clear that the lower Court did not require the giving of security by

Gay in order to stay the execution of the Judgment and that decision carries

with it the lower Court's implicit evaluation of the four criteria the lower Court

uses to evaluate a motion for a TRO or a preliminary injunction.

Gay also understands that, pursuant to Rule 8(c), Miss. R. App. P., that Peirce could have filed a motion in this Court to vacate the stay. Rather, he has, by direct appeal, contended that the lower Court erred when it granted the stay.

The Mississippi Supreme Court in its decision styled *In Re: Estate of Robert Taylor, Deceased*, 539 So. 2d. 1029 (Miss. 1989), gives an insight into staying the execution of a judgment when the Court, speaking through Justice Prather, stated:

The procedure by which an unsuccessful litigant seeks a stay of the execution of a judgment appealed from is a supersedeas. The granting of a supersedeas commands the staying of a proceeding at law and prohibits the enforcement of the trial court's judgment pending review. To secure such a stay of proceedings, it is necessary that the litigant secure a sufficient bond in the amount set by the Trial Judge.

. . .

The amount of a supersedeas bond should be sufficient to protect the appellee in his judgment; therefore, it should insure the payment of the Judgment and interest, and any waste that could occur pending the appeal.

. . .

The bond is the typical means of giving the appellee security. However, the Court may approve security in the form of cash or property. The Judgment may be secured in other ways such as the Court's taking possession of personal property or otherwise providing for a method to ensure payment of the appellee's judgment.

In this state, the controlling guideline in determination of the form, amount, and procedure for supersedeas bonds is Mississippi Supreme Court Rule 8, effective January 1, 1988, and governing all proceedings and appeals and other proceedings subsequently brought such as this motion. *In Re: Estate of Robert Taylor, Deceased*, supra., at 1031. (Emphasis added.)

Of extreme importance is the last sentence of Rule 8(a), Miss. R. App. P., which states as follows:

In the event the clerk declines to approve the bond, or the clerk's approval is contested, or the appellant seeks a stay on any basis other than compliance with this subdivision, the requirements of Rule 8(b) apply.

As this is not a case which was amenable to a supersedeas bond as Peirce had most of the assets to be divided, as the type of assets to be divided created the potential prejudice of penalty and lack of liquidity as far as Gay's use of these funds was concerned, Gay complied with the provisions of Rule 8(b), Miss. R. App. P, and Rule 62(c) and (d), Miss. R. Civ. P., in bringing her Motion to stay the execution of the Judgment initially in the trial Court. As Rule 8(b) states in pertinent part:

Application for a stay of the judgment. . .pending Appeal or for. . .restoring. . .an injunction during the pendency of an appeal must ordinarily be made in the first instance to the trial Court. The Court shall require the giving of security by the Appellant in such form and in such sum as the Court deems proper. . .the ruling of the trial Court on the motion shall be reviewable by the Court.

Gay contends that the lower Court acted within its discretion in not only staying execution of the Judgment, but also in reinstating its January 16, 2006 Order and thereby carried out the principle of the supersedeas as set forth by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Aetna Insurance Company v. Robertson*, 127 Miss. 440, 90 So. 120 (1921), when it stated:

The law requiring security by bond for appeals for supersedeas rests upon the just principle that the successful litigant shall be saved harmless from loss and secured in the fruits of his victory. This is all that should be required of the losing litigant who desires that his case be reviewed on appeal and that the status quo be maintained until a final decision is rendered in the cause. 127 Miss at 142, 444-7, 90 So. at 120-122.

Most recently, the Mississippi Court of Appeals in *Bert Allen Toyota*, *Inc. v. Grasz*, 947 So. 2d 358 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), held that the Chancery

Court, in a situation such as the one in this case in which its *sua sponte* posttrial order had been vacated and an appeal had been perfected, did have
jurisdiction to "determine the issues concerning a stay of the final Judgment,
bond and enforcement of the Judgment, [but] the Chancellor was without
jurisdiction to broaden, amend, modify, vacate, clarify, or rehear the final
Judgment", citing *Ladner v. Ladner*, 843 So. 2d 81, 83 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

Therefore, the lower Court's decision reinstating the January 6, 2006 Order
must be seen as the lower Court's equitable version of supersedeas,
maintaining the status quo as it existed before the evidentiary hearing, to await
a decision on appeal. *Bert Allen Toyota, Inc. v. Grasz, supra.*, at 362-63.

The Mississippi Supreme Court in the case of **Board of Trustees of the Jackson Public School District v. Knox**, 638 So. 2d 1278 (Miss. 1994), held that where the lower Court awards relief which is "in the nature of an injunction or an injunctive-type remedy" the proper cast for a court reviewing a motion to stay is found in Rule 8, Miss. R. App. P., and Rule 62(c), Miss. R. Civ. P., and included in its opinion portions of the Comment to Rule 62 which not only stated that the court's decision upon application for a stay is addressed to

the court's sound discretion, but set forth the four-pronged test of success on the merits, i.e., irreparable injury to the movant, no substantial harm to the judgment creditor, and no harm to the public interest. The Court also stated that "if the Court is satisfied that these considerations or other relevant considerations indicate that an injunction should be stayed pending appeal, the stay will be granted." Board of Trustees of the Jackson Public School District v. Knox, supra., at 1280, 1281.

Conclusion

Appellee Gay Reed McIntosh contends that the lower Court did not

commit error in its interpretation of Rule 62, Miss. R. Civ. P., in staying the

Judgment and in reinstating the Order of January 16, 2006. The lower Court

felt that without the stay being in place, Gay Reed McIntosh would suffer

irreparable harm and that were the Judgment stayed, then the marital assets

would be preserved and that the January 16, 2006 Order for support would

provide support for Jae McIntosh, the minor son of the parties, without placing

an undue burden on Appellant Peirce McIntosh.

Therefore, Appellee Gay Reed McIntosh respectfully requests that this

Court confirm the lower Court's Order staying the Judgment and reinstating

the Order of January 16, 2006 until the Supreme Court of Mississippi issues

its mandate on this consolidated Appeal.